#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DOUGLAS JONES** 

FILED

**APPELLANT** 

V.

JUN 2 8 2007

CASE # 2007-78-00598

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT AN APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

Cc. Hon. Betty Sephton

Supreme Court Clerk

Hon, Andrew K. Howorth

Circuit Court Judge

Hon. Lucy Carpenter

Circuit Court Clerk

Office of the Attorney General

Hon. Leilani Pepper Hill

Asst. District Attorney

Respectfully Submitted

Douglas Jones

Douglass Jones/Pro Se

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Appellant (Douglass Jones) was denied effective assistance of counsel?
- II. Whether trial court violated due process rights of the Appellant by denying him time enough to prepare for trial with court appointed counsel?
- III. Whether the Appellant's due process rights was violated by trial court; when the trial court (with no objection by the state prosecutor) set aside plea and conviction, and set the case for trial eleven days later, but six days later after the prosecutor had learned of undiscovered evidence (decided to contest the setting aside of the plea and conviction) the decision made by the trail court in the first Post-Conviction hearing was changed?
- IV. Whether the Appellant's plea of guilty is valid/invalid by the standards of due process?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Mississippi regarding a hearing dated on the 23rd day of February 2007, which affirmed the guilty plea and conviction of the Appellant in Post-Conviction relief hearing pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-1 et. seq.

The hearing was ordered by the Court of Appeals in Case No. 2005-CP-01702, on grounds of:

- 1. Whether the Appellant had knowledge of the elements of the crime.
- 2. Whether there was a factual basis for the charge.
- 3. Since it was ordered on remand, the issue of effective assistance of counsel may be addressed at that time.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- 1. On the 15th day of April 2002, the Appellant was arrested on the charges of sexual battery pursuant to Miss Code Ann. 97-3-95(d).
- At the April 2003, term of the Marshall County Mississippi Grand Jury, the Appellant was indicted for the offence of sexual battery, Cause No. MK2003-05
- 3. On the 6th day of May 2004, the Appellant was arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty.

- 4. On the 19th day of May 2004, the Appellant entered a plea of guilty to the charges of sexual battery and was sentenced to twenty (20) years imprisonment, with fifteen (15) years suspended and five (5) years to serve. In addition, there was 3 years of post-release supervision.
- 5. On the 4th day of May 2005, the Appellant filed his motion for Post-Conviction Relief pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-1 et. seq. In which the trial court summarily denied the relief on the 15th day of June 2005, in the Marshall County Circuit Court. M2005-184
- On the 13th day of July 2005, the Appellant appealed to the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi.
- On the 22nd day of August 2006, The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for a new hearing. A mandate was issued on the 12th day of September 2006, Cause No. 2005-CP-01702.
- 8. On the 24th day of January 2007, a bond was issued to the Appellant and he made bond.
- 9. On the 15th day of February 2007, a Post-Conviction hearing took place in the judge's chambers. The trial judge (Hon. Andrew Howorth) admitted to errors that were made by him at the plea hearing, and without any objection by the state prosecutor, set aside the plea and conviction and set the case for trial on the 26th day of February 2007.
- 10. The Appellant requested for enough time to obtain a private attorney and to prepare for trial, but Judge Howorth denied the request and appointed a counsel for Appellant (Mr. Thomas Bittock).

- 11. Mr. Bittock also asked/requested for a continuance, that was denied. So Mr. Bittock informed the Appellant to meet with him at his office on the 19th day of February 2007, to prepare for trial.
- 12. The Appellant met with counsel and provided all the facts and key witnesses that would discredit the alleged victim testimony. Counsel even spoke with the key witnesses to verify their statements.
- 13. Counsel stated that he would talk with the prosecutor, however on the 20th day of February, the Appellant's bond was taken from him for the reason "He wasn't supposed to have a bond".
- 14. On the 21st day of February, counsel informed the Appellant that the prosecutor decided to contest the trial court decision on the setting aside of the plea and conviction.
- 15. On the 23rd day of February, a second Post-Conviction hearing took place in Oxford, MS in a board conference room. Judge Howorth stated that he made an error not asking the prosecutor did they want to contest his setting aside of the plea and conviction.
- 16. A witness and former appointed counsel, Kent Smith, testified and deliberately perjured himself under oath, to cover up errors before the Appellant's plea of guilty.
- 17. Appointed counsel, Mr. Bittock, refused to ask questions that the Appellant told him to ask Mr. Smith, Jennifer Jones, and Yolanda Jones, and clearly stated that the Appellant should have waived the hearing.

The ending results of the hearing was that appointed counsel and trial judge clearly violated the Appellant's due process rights, 4th, 5th, 6th, and 14th Amendment rights guaranteed by constitutional laws. In doing so the Appellant's conviction was affirmed.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Upon the facts of this prejudicial case, the Appellant points out the vindictiveness of the state prosecutor, trial judge, and the court appointed counsel, to hold an affirmation of the Appellant's conviction.

It is clearly seen in the record that the Appellant's plea of guilty was set aside by the trial judge Andrew Howorth, because he failed to ask certain questions regarding "sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." **Bradshaw v. Stumpf**, 545 U.S. 175, 125 S.Ct. 2398, 2405 (2005) (quoting **Brady v. United States**, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)

In **Henderson v. Morgan**, 426 U.S. 637 (1976) courts stated, a court accepting a guilty plea does not have to explain the crimes elements to the defendant on the record, as it is also sufficient it "The record accurately reflects the nature of the charge and the elements of the crime were explained to the defendant by his own, competent counsel." **Stumpf** 125 S.Ct. at 2405

At the plea hearing, the trial court failed to ask the Appellant or Appellant's court appointed counsel if he explained the elements of the crime to the Appellant. Stumpf v. Anderson, No. C-1-96-668, 2001 WL 242585 at \*15 (S.D. Ohio Feb. 7, 2001)

There was never any specific assurance that the elements were explained to the Appellant, as pointed out by the Court of Appeals, Cause No. 2005-CP-01702-COA. Even the petition does not summarize the elements. Certain knowledge must be clearly explained at the hearing.

The due process requirements related to the preceding principals is that, a factual basis for the crime must be presented in some manner at a guilty plea hearing.

As it is clearly stated by this Honorable Court, the Appellant's plea hearing did not include any explanation by anyone as to the facts underlying the crime. In order for a plea to be accepted, the record must contain "enough that the court may say with confidence the prosecution could prove the accused guilty of the crime charged." **Corley v. State**, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss 1991)

At the first Post-Conviction hearing, the trial judge knew rights by due process were violated, so he set aside the plea and conviction and proceeded to set the case for trial, Only 11 days later; trial judge also gave permission to the sheriff to set bond at \$10,000, twenty days before the Post-Conviction hearing.

The Appellant asked for an enlargement of time to obtain a private attorney to insure that his rights were not violated. The trial judge denied the Appellant's request and appointed counsel to him. Even the appointed counsel requested for a continuance to be able to investigate and prepare for trial and that request was denied.

In all matters of the case the trial judge showed prejudice towards the Appellant because he had his original disposition reversed, and off the record threatened the Appellant with life imprisonment because of it.

Only six (6) days later, the trial judge changed his mind on his decision to set aside the plea and conviction after he and the state prosecutor was relayed the credible evidence that would have beyond a reasonable doubt cleared the Appellant's name, with acquittal of the charges. There were also credible witnesses to testify on the Appellant's behalf.

At the second Post-Conviction hearing, the appointed counsel showed he was in collusion with the state prosecutor and trial judge to affirm the Appellant's conviction, by refusing to ask certain questions and presenting certain due process rights that were being violated according to the fourth, fifth, sixth, and fourteenth Amendments of the Constitutional laws. It is very apparent the Appellant would not have received a fair trial because of prejudice.

Due Process requires that vindictiveness against defendant for having successfully attacked his first conviction play no part in hearing. However, under the evidence in this case, the conclusion is inescapable that the state prosecutor, trial judge, and appointed counsel denied due process of the law. Due process also requires that a defendant be freed of apprehension of such a retaliatory motivation on the part of the trial judge.

If, by fraud, collusion trickery and submission perjury on the part of those representing the state, the Appellant's hearing results in his conviction/affirmation, he has been denied due process of law.

The action of the trial court in re-imposing the conviction deprived the Appellant of other substantive rights without providing adequate notice and opportunity to defend and is a denial of due process of law by the fourteenth Amendment. U.S.C.A. Amend. 14.

The Appellant asks for true administration of justice.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The argument of the Appellant is not of the commission of mere harmless error, but of a wrong so fundamental, that it made the whole proceeding a mere pretense of a hearing and rendered the affirmation of the conviction and sentence, which is wholly void. The whole proceeding was/is a mask without supplying corrective process.

In the Appellant's first appeal, the Court of Appeals had recognized the duty of the lower court to supply corrective process where due process of law had been denied, which made the Appellant's plea of guilty involuntary.

#### 1. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The burden is on the Appellant to demonstrate both prongs of the **Strickland** standards. In this case sub judice, at the second Post-Conviction hearing the appointed counsel refused to answer/ask important questions to the former appointed counsel and the Appellant's sisters that would have showed the lack of investigation of the facts by the former appointed counsel, not to mention his standing mute and allowing Judge Howorth to clearly violate the Appellant's due process rights by not proceeding to trial as ordered on the 15<sup>th</sup> day of February 2007, which is clearly erroneous and manifestly wrong by **URCCC Rule 9.02**; which states, cases set by the judge for trial "must" be ready at that appointed time. In this case, the trial was set for the 26<sup>th</sup> day of February 2007, with only 11 days to investigate and prepare a defense for trial.

In Lisenba v. California, 314 U.S. 219, 236, 62 S.Ct. 280, 290, 86 L.Ed. 166, the court defined denial of due process as the failure to observe that fundamental fairness essential to the very concept of justice.

It is clear that the former appointed counsel, Mr. Smith, failed to function as counsel guaranteed by constitutional laws.

Because if he had truly investigated the case as he claims in the Post-Conviction hearing transcript, he would have known the mother and stepfather was not tested for "Trich". They were tested for gonoherrea and Chlamydia only. (As pointed out in the hearing on pg. 26 lines 6-13, 22-29; pg. 27 line 12-15; pg. 28 line 19-24, 28-29; pg. 29 line 1-6 of the transcript.) It is evident that the state didn't know or wasn't aware of this very thing, which shows the form of prejudice

in the highest degree by both the former appointed counsel and the state prosecutor. To add insult to injury the trial judge prejudicially stated, "there is now" when there wasn't.

In the transcript at pg. 18 line 29; pg. 19 line 1,2,11; pg. 21 line 6-9, the former appointed counsel states that the Appellant maintained a not guilty plea up until the plea hearing. Some conduct clearly amounts to gross incompetence, compelling a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. For example, forcing a client to plead guilty, despite his repeated protestations of innocence. Likewise, a defendant has been denied effective assistance where his appointed counsel advised a guilty plea while in collusion with the judge or the prosecution.

The former appointed counsel says that he talked with the only three witnesses that the Appellant gave him, which is perjury/false pretense (pg. 23 line 24-28; pg. 31 line 3, 16).

The Appellant provides (Exhibit A) which shows the former appointed counsel was provided with an alibi list that he signed. Mr. Smith stated that those witness could not testify to the exact times the alleged victim said it took place. However, if this Honorable Court would look at (Exhibit B) which clearly shows the dates of January 1, 2002 on the medical report, police report and social services report, the outcome of a thorough investigation would have uncovered this catch 22.

To move forward with the argument, there was an alibi witness named Jerrica Jones, that could testify that the alleged victim spent the entire time at the Appellant's sister's house. The Appellant's sister could testify the same. However, Mr. Bittock refused to ask Yolanda any questions about this very subject. He stated, that is irrelevant, and off the record he stated to the Appellant, that he needed to tuck his tail and accept the remainder of his sentence by waiving the hearing.

Mr. Smith stated he did some research on Trichomonisis but clearly could not know if it could be spread by vulva-to-vulva contact. His remarks were I'm not a medical expert (pg. 28 line 3; see also Exhibit C).

Mr. Smith stated he spoke with the Appellant's mother, Annie Jones, about the case, but he never asked her if the statement by the alleged victim "that she was home alone until she came home from work", he would have found out that the statement was a statement of false pretense.

The all in all facts show the lack of preparation and investigation in this case of sub judice.

As stated in the Appellant's brief of Case No. 2005-CP-01702, the alleged incident was to have been only one time, but was placed in two different locations as pointed out in the transcript (pg. 30 line 4-11).

## 2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF THE APPELLANT

As the Appellant begins this issue at hand, he asks this Honorable Court to be patient and very attentive.

On the 15<sup>th</sup> day of February 2007, the Appellant was at the first Post-Conviction hearing and the trial judge set aside the plea of guilty and the set the case for trial only 11 days later.

At that time, the Appellant requested for additional time to be able to obtain his own private attorney. Judge Howorth denied the request, and appointed counsel, Mr. Bittock.

Mr. Bittock motioned for a continuance, in order to prepare for trial that was set only 11 days away. That motion was denied. The Appellant points out there is no attorney that can investigate and prepare in a matter such as this.

The trial judge abused his discretion according to law. That any/all defense attorney have applicable enough time to prepare and investigate case before trial, and 11 days is not sufficient time in a matter such as this.

Five days before the trial, they judge says there is not going to be a trial and revokes bond of the Appellant because the state prosecutor wishes to contest the relief "only after they hear of the credible evidence that would have discredited their only two arguments.

However, it is evident that the trial judge and prosecutor refused to acknowledge the Uniform Criminal Rule of Circuit Court Rule 9.02, which states, a docket of cases ready for trial shall be maintained by the clerk or court administrator. Cases set by the judge for trial "must" be ready at that appointed time.

In which such vindictiveness tactics constituted a sufficiently specific violation of the Appellant's due process within the meaning of securing his conviction by the use of false pretense/fraud, which is a denial of due process and a direct violation of the fourteenth Amendment. Shelly v. Kramer, 334 U.S 1, 68 S.Ct. 836, 9 L.Ed. 1161, 3 A.L.R. 2d 441; Brown v. Mississippi, 297 U.S. 278, 56 S.Ct. 461, 80 L.Ed. 682; Palka v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 58 S.Ct. 149, 82 L.Ed. 288; Mooney v. Holahan, 294 U.S. 103, 55 S.Ct. 340, 79 L.Ed. 791, 98 A.L.R. 406

The trial judge knew about certain violations of due process at the plea hearing because this Honorable Court pointed them out in Cause No. 2005-CP-01702.

The due process clause of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment embraces the requirement that no trial/hearing should deprive a defendant of the constitutional safeguards which are of fundamental importance, and a necessary part of a "fair trial".

Although errors are sometimes committed through the eagerness to end a case, yet there is nothing in the duty of a prosecutor or trial judge which requires them to prejudice the right of the defendant/Appellant to a fair trial in an effort to retain a conviction.

It is clearly pointed out in the transcript on pg. 4 lines 9-25 of how the trial court did set aside the plea. Especially, with no objections/contestations by the state prosecutor at the first PCR hearing.

It was briefly stated by the trial judge that he was still awaiting the mandate of the Court of Appeals at this time, February 17 2007; the mandate was issued on the 12<sup>th</sup> day of September 2006. Does this seem strange at all by the circumstances that are presented? It took five months to have a hearing that was ordered by a higher court. It was neglected by the lower courts.

## 3. WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S PLEA OF GUILTY WAS VALID OR INVALID BY THE STANDARDS OF DUE PROCESS

In **Henderson v. Morgan**, courts stated a guilty plea is an admission of all the elements of a formal criminal charge, it cannot be truly voluntary unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the law in relation to the facts. **McCarthy v. United States**, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969)

As stated by this Honorable Court, the record did not accurately reflect the nature of the charge and the element of the crime were not explained to the Appellant by his own competent counsel. There was no representation by the former appointed counsel that the elements were explained to the Appellant. Neither, was a factual basis presented at the plea hearing. Summarily it is absent from the record.

According to Corley v. State, 585 So.2d 765, courts stated our rules provide that, before a guilty plea may be accepted, the circuit court must find a factual basis for it. As a simple matter

of the due process requirements related to the preceding principals is that, a factual basis for the crime must be presented in some manner at a guilty plea hearing.

The Appellant's hearing did not include any explanation by anyone as to the facts underlying the crime.

The plea shouldn't have been accepted because the record didn't contain any facts that the court could say with confidence the prosecution could prove the accused guilty of the crime charged. Citing Corley 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss 1991)

In Gillard v. State, 426 So.2d 710, 712 (Miss 1985), the defendant entered a guilty plea and the trial court orally reiterated all of the elements of the crime to ensure the defendant understood the crime which he was admitting guilt.

As pointed out by this Honorable Court, that sort of compliance with the requirements did not occur here in this case. Since the record is completely silent of those requirements, the plea of guilty is wholly void.

#### CONCLUSION

The Appellant requests this Honorable Court to look at the facts very carefully. It is obvious that Mr. Smith perjured himself on more than one occasion to cover up his prejudicial actions/inactions, in which gave the state a clear and convincing tactical advantage. Not to mention the refusal of Mr. Bittock to ask certain questions to Mr. Smith and the Appellant's sisters.

The trial court and state prosecutor failed to acknowledge certain requirements by due process laws, and continued to violate the Appellant's rights.

Let's recap briefly:

1. After the mandate was issued it took five (5) months to have a hearing.

2. The trial court acknowledged at first the due process violations and set aside the plea and

conviction

3. The trial court set the case for trial to proceed in eleven (11) days. Insufficient time to

prepare.

4. The trial court denied the Appellant enough time to prepare with his newly appointed

counsel.

5. The trial court denied motion for continuance.

6. Because of a less confident state prosecutor, the trial court reversed the decision of setting the

plea aside.

7. After this vindictiveness in the second Post-Conviction hearing a total miscarriage of justice

took place.

8. This led to the affirmation of the original conviction.

The Appellant respectfully submits that it is clear "He wouldn't receive a fair hearing/trial

because of the prejudice that is surrounded by the charge itself.

The Appellant requests for the immediate dismissal of the charges due to certain due

process rights violations committed by both the state prosecutor and the trial judge, in which a

total miscarriage of the administration of justice ("clear violation").