# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DOUGLAS JONES** 

**APPELLANT** 

**FILED** 

VS.

AUG 0 3 2007

NO. 2007-CP-0598-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** 

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On remand, and in the wake of the court ordered evidentiary hearing, Judge Howorth made findings of fact and reached conclusions of law. His fact findings are neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong; rather, they are supported by substantial and credible evidence found in the record of the evidentiary hearing. **Brown v. State**, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (¶6) (Miss. 1999); **Skinner v. State**, 864 So.2d 298 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

Jones has failed to demonstrate by a "preponderance of the evidence" he is entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23-7; **McClendon v. State,** 539 So.2d 1375 (Miss. 1989); **Todd v. State,** 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

A plea of guilty is binding only if it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. *Myers v. State*, 583 So.2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991).

A plea of guilty is voluntary and intelligent when Douglas Jones, the appellant, is informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his guilty plea. *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992).

He was.

Jones claimed his lawyer was ineffective because he failed to adequately investigate the facts of the case. As noted by Judge Southwick in his written opinion, Jones makes "general allegations"

targeting the credibility of the victim, her mother, and her examining physicians. (Slip Opinion at 10)

Jones has failed to tell us how additional investigation would have affected the outcome of his decision to plead guilty. Moreover, the testimony of lawyer Smith, Jones's trial lawyer, lends great credence to the credibility of paragraph 4 of the plea petition which informed Judge Howorth that Jones had told his lawyer *all* of the facts and circumstances known to me and that his lawyer had advised him of the possible defenses he may have to the charge.

Judge Howorth found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law that Jones was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilty plea. Scrutiny of counsel's testimony during the evidentiary hearing supports our position that counsel's performance, contrary to Jones's present claim, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Jones. **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); **Williams v. State**, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **Reynolds v. State**, 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE FINDINGS OF FACT MADE BY JUDGE HOWORTH IN THE WAKE OF REMAND WERE NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR MANIFESTLY WRONG.

JONES HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND THAT THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED HIS PLEA.

On two occasions during the plea-qualification process, Douglas Jones told Judge Howorth he was guilty of sexual battery and satisfied with counsel. Nevertheless, on direct appeal the Court of Appeals expressed concern over whether or not Jones was aware of the elements of sexual battery

and whether there is a factual basis for Jones's plea.

He was and there is

On remand, the testimony adduced during the evidentiary hearing resolved these questions fully, fairly, and finally,

In a three (3) page order denying post-conviction relief and re-imposing sentence, Judge Howorth found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law the following:

\* \* \* \* \* \*

- 4. That upon hearing all the evidence and proof presented at the defendant's post-conviction hearing the Court is fully satisfied that the defendant was explained the elements of the offense of sexual battery and that the defendant was fully aware of the elements of sexual battery when he entered his guilty plea on May 19<sup>th</sup>, 2004.
- 5. That the Court further finds that there was a factual basis for the defendant's guilty plea to sexual battery as alleged in the indictment.
- 6. That any ineffective assistance claim is without merit and should be and hereby is denied. (C.P. at 13)

See also Judge Howorth's ruling voiced ore tenus from the bench which states, in part, the following:

"\*\* \* The Court is of the opinion that the State has established that the defendant - - that there was an adequate, totally adequate factual basis for the plea and that the elements of the offense had been properly explained to the defendant and the Court's initially of the opinion also that the defendant was competently represented in arriving at what culminated in his guilty plea through the entire process by Mr. Smith."

These findings are both judicious and correct. They are neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong; rather, they are supported by substantial and credible evidence found in the record of the evidentiary hearing. **Brown v. State**, *supra*, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (¶6) (Miss. 1999); **Skinner** 

## v. State, supra, 864 So.2d 298 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

The transcripts of the plea-qualification hearing and the recent evidentiary hearing should be read and considered together with the advice reflected in the petition to enter plea of guilty which was signed by Jones in the presence of his lawyer.

The petition to enter plea of guilty reflects that Jones was advised of, *inter alia*, the elements of the charge to which he was pleading guilty which, according to Jones, are proven by the true facts (paragraph 14). The testimony of Kent Smith and Jennifer and Yolanda Jones points to the accuracy of paragraph 14.

Jones, who claims he was denied due process and fundamental fairness, complains about alleged "vindictiveness" of the state prosecutor, the trial judge, and his court appointed counsel." (Brief of Appellant at 6)

It is enough to say the official record, including the record of the evidentiary hearing, simply does not support this nonsense.

Jones argues that Kent Smith, his court appointed trial lawyer, was ineffective because he failed to investigate the facts, failed to interview material witnesses, failed to challenge weaknesses in the State's case, failed to file pretrial motions, and provided false information. (Brief of Appellant at 9-11)

He also argues Mr. Beddict, one of his lawyers appointed for the evidentiary hearing, was ineffective because he refused to ask the right questions to Mr. Smith. (Brief of Appellant at 9-11)

During the evidentiary hearing, Kent Smith testified at great length concerning his investigation of the case and possible defenses. (R. 13-22)

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR:] And one last time did you feel confident and based upon your experience as a well seasoned defense attorney that the State certainly had a factual basis for the case and

then also that Mr. Jones was aware of the specific elements of the crime.

# A. [BY MR. SMITH:] Yes, ma'am. (R. 22)

Jennifer Jones, one of the defendant's sisters, testified that Mr. Smith reviewed in great detail what the State's evidence would be. (R. 35) In her opinion, her brother knew what he was charged with and was aware of the specific elements of the offense. (R. 35)

Yolanda Jones, another sister, testified she was also present during meetings with attorney Smith and the defendant. (R. 39) Smith shared and reviewed the State's evidence extensively in their presence. In Yolanda's opinion, Jones was well aware of what he was charged with. (R. 38)

Jones has failed to overcome the presumption his lawyer(s) rendered reasonably effective assistance during his guilty plea.

Jones acknowledged in his petition to enter plea of guilty he believed his lawyer was competent and had done all that anyone could to counsel and assist him and that he "... was fully satisfied with [the] advice and help he has given me." (Paragraph 13)

During the plea-qualification hearing itself Jones told Judge Howorth, eyeball to eyeball, he was "... satisfied with the services of [his] attorney."

Mr. Smith's testimony during the evidentiary hearing was quite compelling. It convinced Judge Howorth that Smith was not ineffective in the constitutional sense. Without a doubt, the official record supports this finding.

Jones was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilty plea because counsel's performance, contrary to Jones's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency actually prejudice Jones. **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); **Williams v. State**, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **Reynolds v. State**, 736 So.2d

500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

"When a convicted defendant challenges his guilty plea on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show unprofessional errors of substantial gravity. Beyond that, he must show that those errors proximately resulted in his guilty plea and that but for counsel's errors he would not have entered the plea." **Reynolds v. State**, 521 So.2d 914, 918 (Miss. 1988).

The ground rules applicable here are found in **Brooks v. State**, 573 So.2d 1350, 1353 (Miss. 1990), where this Court said:

It is clear the two part test articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) "applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel." *Leatherwood v. State*, 539 So.2d 1378, 1381 (Miss. 1989) quoting from *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370, 88 L.Ed.2d 203, 210 (1985).

In order to prevail on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Brooks must show, first of all, "that his counsel's performance was deficient and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense so as to deprive him of a fair trial." *Perkins v. State, supra,* 487 So.2d at 793. The burden is upon the defendant to make "a showing of both." *Wilcher v. State,* 479 So.2d 710, 713 (Miss. 1985) (emphasis supplied). To obtain an evidentiary hearing in the lower court on the merits of an effective assistance of counsel issue, a defendant must state "a claim *prima facie*" in his application to the Court. *Read v. State,* 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss. 1983).

See also Drennan v. State, 695 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1997), where we find the following language:

\*\*\* When reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court utilizes the standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In Schmitt v. State, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss. 1990), this Court held "[b]efore counsel can be deemed to have been ineffective, it must be shown (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the defendant was prejudiced by counsel's mistakes." (Citations omitted). One who claims that counsel was ineffective must overcome the presumption that "counsel's performance falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. (Quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068). In order to overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must

show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* (695 So.2d at 586)

Counsel's performance was hardly deficient and unprofessional. Had Jones gone to trial before a jury, as opposed to pleading guilty and allowing the trial judge to pronounce a sentence of twenty (20) years with fifteen (15) years suspended and only five (5) years to serve, Jones could have been required to serve the full twenty (20) years. By negotiating a plea bargain agreement, Jones mitigated the time he was to serve.

Jones has failed to demonstrate how counsel's alleged omissions, e.g., his failure to interview certain witnesses, his failure to investigate certain facts, even if corrected, would have altered the outcome of Jones's decision to plead guilty.

In short, Jones has failed to demonstrate his lawyer's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant.

"Trial counsel is presumed to be competent." **Brooks v. State**, *supra*, 573 So.2d 1350, 1353 (Miss. 1990). Jones, of course, must overcome that presumption. Moreover, the burden is on the defendant to demonstrate *both* prongs of the **Strickland** test. **McQuarter v. State**, 574 So.2d 685 (Miss. 1990).

"Along with the presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable conduct, there is a presumption that decisions made are strategic." Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985). Courts are reluctant to infer from counsel's silence an absence of trial strategy. *Id.* As Jones points out, the filing of pretrial motions falls squarely within the ambit of trial strategy. Murray v. Maggio, 736 So.2d 279, 283 (5th Cir. 1984). Courts accord much discretion to attorneys in the areas of defense strategy. Armstrong v. State, 573 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1990). Obviously, the strategy involved in Jones's negotiated plea of guilty was to negate the possibility of

a longer sentence.

Jones has failed to demonstrate that trial counsel's overall performance was deficient. Moreover, none of the alleged acts of commission or omission by counsel, viewed either individually or collectively, amount to a deficient performance. The official record reflects Mr. Smith rendered sound legal advice and performed in a constitutionally competent manner.

Of course, by pleading guilty Jones waived his right to have the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt as well as Jones's right to present any defense(s) he might have had to the charge. **Bishop v. State**, 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002); **Anderson v. State**, supra, 577 So.2d 390 (Miss. 1991); **Jefferson v. State**, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989); **Taylor v. State**, 766 So.2d 830, 835 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000).

We summarize.

The testimony adduced during the evidentiary hearing reflects (1) Jones was advised of the essential elements of the offense of sexual battery, (2) there was a factual basis for the plea, and (3) neither trial nor counsel on remand were ineffective in the constitutional sense.

We invite the Court to view the testimony elicited during the evidentiary hearing with the rest of the record. Jones told Judge Howorth during the plea-qualification hearing he had gone over the petition to enter plea of guilty with his lawyer and that his lawyer answered any questions Jones had. Jones also stated, under oath, he had told his lawyer everything about the facts and circumstances giving rise to the charge, that he had not withheld anything from his lawyer and that he was "... satisfied with the services of [his] lawyer."

Testimony during the court-ordered evidentiary hearing points unerringly to the voluntariness of Jones's guilty plea and the effectiveness of his lawyers.

CONCLUSION

Judge Howorth's findings of fact and conclusions of law that Jones's claims were without

merit are neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong; rather, they are supported by both

substantial and credible testimony and evidence found in the record.

Jones's claim that his court-appointed lawyers were in collusion with the prosecution to

secure a conviction and that he was a victim of vindictiveness is a conclusory allegation lacking

support in the record.

Jones has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the performance of his lawyers

was deficient and that any deficiency prejudiced him in his decision to plea guilty. Testimony

elicited during the evidentiary hearing points unerringly to the competency of counsel and the

effectiveness of their representation.

Appellee respectfully submits this case is devoid of any claims necessitating vacation of

Jones's plea of guilty to sexual battery which, by all appearances, was freely and voluntarily entered

by Douglas Jones. Accordingly, the judgment entered in the lower court denying Jones's motion for

post-conviction collateral relief should be forthwith affirmed.